
 
 

Planning Commission 
 

 
Regular Meeting Agenda  
Thursday, July 10, 2014 
7:00 p.m., Council Chambers 
 

City of South Haven 
                                                                      

 

              
1. Call to Order  
 
2. Roll Call 

 
3. Approval of Agenda  
 
4. Approval of Minutes – June 5, 2014 

 
5. Interested Citizens in the Audience Will be Heard on Items Not on the Agenda 
 
6. New Business – Public Hearings 

 
a) A zoning ordinance text amendment to clarify the provisions of zoning ordinance section 

901-17 which allows one family detached dwellings to be permitted by special use permit 
in the B-3, Waterfront Business Zone.  

 
b) A request from Tom Brussee to amend the official zoning map to rezone .35 acres 

(15,319 square feet) at 38 Northshore Drive from the B-3, Waterfront Business Zone to 
the R1-A Single Family Residential zone. The parcel number for the subject property is 
80-53-823-002-10. 
 

7. Other Business 
 
a) Site Plan Review for new Goodwill Store, 340  73 ½ Street 

 
b) Review of Draft Noise Ordinance amendments, City Code Article II, Sections 30-27 

through 30-36; Set public hearing date  
 

c) Discussion of mini-storage expansion at 1505 2nd Avenue 
 

8. Commissioner Comments 
 
9. Adjourn 
 
RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED, 
Linda Anderson, Zoning Administrator 

 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 1 of 57



1 
 

Planning Commission 
 

 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
Thursday, June 5, 2014 
7:00 p.m., Council Chambers 

City of South Haven 
                                                                      

 

              
1. Call to Order by Heinig at 7:00 p. m.                     
 
2. Roll Call 
 

Present:  Miles, Peterson, Smith, Stimson, Wall, Webb, Heinig 
Absent:   Frost, Paull 
 
Motion by Wall, second by Smith excuse Paull and Frost.  
 
All in favor. Motion carried. 

 
3. Approval of Agenda  
 

Heinig, as Chair, noted that Mr. Tom Brussee has withdrawn his request for a special use 
permit at 38 North Shore Drive. There have also been additions to the agenda: the election 
of officers and a review of progress by the sub-committee on the draft noise ordinance. 

 
Motion by Smith, second by Miles to approve the June 6, 2014 regular meeting agenda 
without the 38 North Shore Drive request and with the addition of the election of officers and 
a review of progress by the sub-committee on the draft noise ordinance. 
 
All in favor. Motion carried. 

 
4. Approval of Minutes – May 1, 2014 
 

Motion by Wall, second by Peterson to approve the May 1, 2014 regular meeting minutes as 
written. 
 
All in favor. Motion carried. 
 

Election of officers.  
 
      Heinig opened the election of officers.   
 
 Nomination by Wall for Dave Paull as Chair. Second by Smith. 
 

 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 2 of 57



June 5, 2014 
Planning Commission 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
DRAFT 

 2 

 Motion by Wall, second by Smith to close the nominations for Chair. 
 
 All in favor. Motion carried. 
 
 Heinig called the vote for Dave Paull as chairman. 
 
 All in favor. Motion carried. 
 
 Nomination for Co-chair was opened. 
 
 Motion by Wall to nominate Larry Heinig for Co-chair. Second by Miles. 
 
 Motion by Wall, second by Smith to close the nominations. 
 
 Heinig called the vote. 
 
 All in favor. Motion carried. 

 
5. Interested Citizens in the Audience Will be Heard on Items Not on the Agenda 
 

None at this time. 
 
6. New Business – Public Hearings 

 

a. Steve Schlack is seeking preliminary approval to amend Phase 2 of 
Riverwatch Condominium development to eliminate the proposed 25 unit 
residential building and add a fourteen-unit (14) parking garage and 
additional green space for the existing units. The development is located at 
815 E. Wells Street. 
 
Anderson noted that amending the condominium development plan has to go 
through the same process as approving a Planned Unit Development (PUD);   
there will need to be an introduction; then a preliminary review and a public 
hearing at the next meeting. The final approval will rest with the city council. 
 
Anderson explained that since there were several things missing from the 
application, this request will be treated as a preliminary review. Missing from this 
application include: legal descriptions; access drives; utility hookups, proposed 
landscaping and ground cover. 
 
Anderson noted that we will open the public hearing for the special use, and then 
continue the public hearing for the next meeting. Anderson suggested that the 
commission first consider the amendment, which fits the category of the 
preliminary hearing. The public hearing on the special use permit for the lot split 
will follow.  
 
Heinig asked if the applicant or a representative of the applicant were present. 
 

 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 3 of 57



June 5, 2014 
Planning Commission 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
DRAFT 

 3 

Steve Schlack, 815 East Wells, Riverwatch Condominiums. Noted that the 
outlined goal for him tonight is to see if we have a consensus whether this is 
something the Planning Commission would approve, before he gets into the 
more costly aspects, and to answer any questions the board may have. 
 
Smith asked for clarity on exactly where the proposed garages and single family 
home would be going; he found the drawings in the packet were hard to 
understand. Schlack noted he has a better preliminary site plan, which he passed 
to the Planning Commission. Schlack noted that while it was slow going, the 
Riverwatch Phase One is now sold out; his main goal with this request is to 
provide more storage for residents. The changes to the Phase Two portion will 
accommodate that need. 
 
Heinig asked the commission if they want to do the public hearing on the 
proposed lot split before voting on this portion of the application. Heinig then 
asked Anderson her view. Anderson noted that if you approve this you are de 
facto approving the lot split. Anderson feels it is important at this point to move on 
to part B of the request and then come back to part A.  
 
Smith asked if this request is atypical. Anderson said no, there are usually things 
that are missing from a preliminary review.  
 
Heinig suggested, upon no further comment, proceeding to Item B.  
 

b. Steve Schlack is also seeking a special use permit to split off a portion of the 
Phase 2 parcel for the development of a single family home. The development is 
located at 815 East Wells Street. 

 
Anderson stated that Schlack is proposing to remove approximately sixteen 
thousand (16,000’) square feet from the condominium plan and use that portion to 
develop a single family home outside of the condominium development. That 
request is for a special use permit to construct the single family home in the B-3 
zone. Anderson explained that the commission needs to have a public hearing on 
the request.  
 
Motion by Wall, second by Smith to open the public hearing. 
 
All in favor. Motion carried. 
 
Heinig asked if there are people who would like to speak. 
 
Mark Gale, Riverwatch Condominiums. Gale stated that he previously owned a unit 
in the South Haven Marina Townhomes. There was also a vacant lot and eventually 
put up the garages; it was the best thing he ever did. This request seems similar to 
that and this is an asset; the previous site was an overgrown vacant lot used for 
overflow parking. This would be an asset to the city of South Haven. 

 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 4 of 57



June 5, 2014 
Planning Commission 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
DRAFT 

 4 

 
Anderson noted if the Planning Commission feels they are going to go ahead with 
the split her suggestion would be to not take official action tonight; carry it over. You 
may have discussion, ask the applicant questions but do not close the hearing; 
move to continue it until the matter of the overall amendment is decided.  
 
Motion by Wall, second by Peterson to continue the public hearing until the next time 
the matter is before them. 
 
All in favor. Motion carried. 
 
Heinig called for comments and questions from commissioners. 
 
Smith asked whether if this portion of the condominium plan is split off, it be out of 
the condominium. Anderson responded that is correct; the proposed amendment is 
two-fold: 1.) replace the approved Phase 2 condominium units with garage/storage 
space and open space, and 2.) remove another portion entirely for the home.  
 
Wall asked if these changes affect the PUD. Anderson said it is actually a 
condominium project and a major amendment still has to go through the PUD 
process. That process requires that a public hearing be held, after which City 
Council has the final say. 
 
Schlack stated that just like with the amendment request, he is looking for feedback 
and to get a feeling for which way the board is heading. Schlack understands that a 
single-family home can be kind of contentious and bring public attention. Schlack 
pointed out that the only way to gain access to the Phase 2 portion of the property is 
over a residential parking lot. Since the property is zoned B-3 he cannot put a 
business there. Therefore Schlack is asking for the special use permit for the single 
family home. 
 
Heinig noted that he wanted to comment on the standards; under Standard H, it 
states that “the special land use shall conform with all standards in this ordinance 
and other applicable city ordinances” and references Zoning Ordinance Section 901-
17 which states, “in addition to the standards found in Section 1502 of this 
ordinance, the applicant shall demonstrate that the conversion is of substantial 
benefit to the City of South Haven and the waterfront business community.” Heinig 
does not believe that the application demonstrates substantial benefit to the city or 
the waterfront community.  
 
Wall commented, noting that she is not being argumentative, that the property 
cannot be used for business because the access is over a residential parking lot. 
Anderson pointed out that there was a case in the last year where an applicant 
wanted to do something similar, the applicant went before the Zoning Board of 
Appeals (ZBA) which denied the request, said the ordinance was clear. The 
applicant went to court and the court upheld the zoning board’s decision. Anderson 

 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 5 of 57



June 5, 2014 
Planning Commission 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
DRAFT 

 5 

added that she mentioned this to Mr. Schlack and that she did not see the board of 
appeals approving a similar request, especially in light of the court decision.  
 
Wall asked if he could do anything with it if he cannot have a business, other than 
just a vacant lot. Wall asked Heinig’s thoughts on this. Heinig replied that he already 
has a permitted use approved for the property in the way of a condominium project. 
 
Rob Keorkunian, 815 Wells, Riverwatch Condos: Trying to understand Heinig’s 
comment of there being no benefit. “What would be of no benefit? There are less 
taxes being paid than if there were garages and a single family home. Stated that 
resident do not want the Phase 2 area to be used for commercial use; he 
understands that the regulations will not permit that. “Since that portion of property is 
land-locked, I can’t understand Heinig’s comment.” 
 
Heinig explained that that portion of the property is not isolated or totally unusable; it 
is part of the condominium development at this time. Smith noted that verbiage to 
explain this is right in the ordinance. Smith added that there is a lot of land and 
property down there on the waterfront that the city and the commission do not want 
to see turn into an area of just single family homes.  
 
Wall said the B-3, Waterfront Business zone, was set up with the idea to keep it 
available for businesses that serve the marina/boating community and for green 
spaces so the public can enjoy the waterfront. Wall noted this is a community; it is 
not just about one residence.  
 
After further back and forth between the board and Keorkunian, Anderson interjected 
with a reminder that the current discussion was occurring outside of a public hearing. 
If it is to continue, the commission should reopen the public hearing since it was only 
continued, not closed. 
 
Heinig noted that Keorkunian can talk to the commissioners or Anderson after the 
meeting. 
 
Wall said the Planning Commission needs more information.  
 
After a question from Smith, who asked if the commission is considering the 
garages, too, Anderson responded that we are looking at all of it; removing property, 
the development of the single family home, and building the garages. Anderson 
pointed out that the commission can withhold preliminary approval; giving 
preliminary approval allows the applicant to know he can move forward. If the 
commissioners are not comfortable, Anderson suggests tabling the request. 
 
Motion by Miles to wait to make a decision until the next meeting, until all the 
information is available and the public hearing is held on the condominium 
amendment. Second by Wall.  
 

 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 6 of 57



June 5, 2014 
Planning Commission 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
DRAFT 

 6 

All in favor. Motion carried. 
 

7. Other Business – Review of Draft Noise Ordinance  
 

Webb noted the sub-committee is in the process of making changes to their draft. Heinig 
explained that some of the changes that came to the sub-committee’s attention include 
the 11:00 p.m. shut off of music, and another segment where they would reduce the 
decibels. Anderson said from 1:30 a.m. to 7:00 a.m. the committee is advising requiring 
ambient noise only. Not yelling, not screaming, not loud music. Ambient noise is generally 
at about forty-five (45) to fifty (50) decibels, according to Anderson, who noted that the 
city code did not have that decibel level requirement before, but was allowing noise 
overnight at the seventy (70) to seventy-five (75) decibel range.   
 
The ordinance has been very complicated and difficult to enforce. Anderson noted that 
the sub-committee is trying to make this ordinance a whole lot easier to understand and 
enforce.  
 
Heinig commented that Police Chief Martin and the Deputy Chief have been extremely 
cooperative and helpful to the committee, regarding things we could do to make things 
easier. He also told the commission about the sound testing done at Listiak Auditorium to 
help the committee understand and hear the difference in different decibel levels of a 
variety of sounds. Chief Martin sent a representative to that meeting who was very 
helpful. Heinig said the head of the housing commission, the mayor and people at Old 
Harbor Village have been equally helpful.  Heinig expressed the need to make the 
ordinance very solid, fair and easy for everyone to understand including police, bar 
owners and residents. 
 
Webb noted that the committee was operating under the assumption of the police 
enforcing ninety (90) and seventy-five (75) decibels, which is what our original draft was 
based on; then it was realized that commercial abutting up to residential after 11:00 at 
night should be enforced at sixty (60) decibels. We are trying to go with 60 decibels at 
11:00 at night and then down to ambient after 1:30 a.m. 
 
Wall commented that as a council member she gets quite a few calls on the noise 
ordinance. Wall wanted to point out, “When you bought where you are living, did you not 
notice there was a bar next door?” 
 
Anderson informed that the committee researched lakeshore and resort community noise 
ordinances. Allowing only ambient noise after the bar closes was fairly common. “That is 
good; at that point the city should be quieting down. It’s a gradual progression of noise.”  
 
Heinig noted that the whole commission will see the draft at the next meeting.  
 
Wall had a question about the penalties to which Anderson responded we are looking at 
making those stiffer. Discussion ensued around fines going exponentially higher for 
repeat offenses. Wall suggested we need to make sure that the bar owners understand 
that we are serious because this has been a problem for years; $50 - $100 is nothing to 
bar owners who can make that in less than an hour. Wall strongly suggested that the fine 
keeps doubling until the bar owners understand the rules and know this is how it goes. “If 
we hit them hard enough with fines they will learn and they will play nice,” Wall 

 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 7 of 57



June 5, 2014 
Planning Commission 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
DRAFT 

 7 

commented. Wall will be bringing this strong suggestion to council because every year 
the city goes through this and she strongly suggests the bar owners be hit with financial 
incentives. 
 
Anderson commented on the B-3 amendment; city council has been reviewing the 
amendment the planning commission made and is thinking some of it may not be clear 
enough. Council has asked for clarification to be added. Anderson worked with the city 
attorney to develop clearer provisions. Anderson noted that the Ordinance specifically 
states that one family detached dwellings a.) Must show substantial benefit; b.) No other 
permitted use could be developed on the lot; c.) Applicant’s inability to use the lot for 
another permitted use is not a self-created situation and, d.) Special use permits shall not 
be granted for any lot split after January 2014. This would eliminate creating new lots in 
that zone. Additionally, any site plan must satisfy the special use standards of the 
ordinance. The new parts are that the need for a special use permit cannot be self-
created and lots cannot be split solely to build a single family home. This is not in the 
ordinance now but is in the proposed amendments. 
 
Motion by Wall to schedule a public hearing on the B-3 amendment. Second by Smith.  
 
All in favor. Motion carried. 
 

8. Commissioner Comments 
 

Wall: Thanks for letting me rant; I feel much better and my husband will be happy! Don’t 
forget this weekend is Cruising for Kylie. Lots of classic cars and benefits cystic fibrosis; 
it’s a wonderful car show and Kylie is a local girl who has cystic fibrosis. 
 
Heinig: Thanks for your patience as I chaired the meeting tonight. 
 
There were no other comments.  

 
9. Adjourn 
 

Motion by Wall, second by Smith to adjourn at 7:48 p. m. 
 

All in favor. Motion carried. 
 

 
RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED, 
 
Marsha Ransom 
Recording Secretary 

 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 8 of 57



 

Planning Commission Staff Report 

 
Agenda Item #6A 

Proposed Zoning Ordinance Amendment to Add 
Single Family Dwellings to the B-3 Zoning District 

Regulations 

 

 
Background Information:  
 
In January of 2014, the planning commission held a public hearing on certain amendments to 
the B-3 waterfront Business zoning district. One amendment included provisions to allow single 
family homes on individual lots in the B-3 zone. This ordinance amendment was adopted by the 
city council on March 17, 2014. 
 
Upon closer review, the city council determined that modifications were required to the 
amendment to clarify that no lots splits for single family homes will be allowed in the B-3 zone 
and the special use requirement that the parcel could not be used for another permitted use 
could not be the result of any action of the property owner.  
 
Staff worked with the city attorney to draft appropriate clarifying amendments.  
 
Recommendation: 
 
Staff recommends that the planning commission adopt the attached resolution forwarding the 
amendment to the city council for adoption.  
  
Attachments: 
 
Proposed Zoning Ordinance Section 901 amendment 
Resolution to city council 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
Linda Anderson 
Zoning Administrator 

 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 9 of 57



 

Ordinance No. ____ 
-1- 

CITY OF SOUTH HAVEN 
VAN BUREN AND ALLEGAN COUNTIES, MICHIGAN 

 
ORDINANCE NO - ____ 

 
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE OFFICIAL ZONING MAP OF THE SOUTH 
HAVEN ZONING ORDINANCE TO ALLOW FOR ONE FAMILY DETACHED 
DWELLINGS IN THE B-3 WATERFRONT BUSINESS ZONE. 

 
 
The City of South Haven Ordains: 
 
SECTION 1 Amendment: Section 901 of the South Haven Zoning Ordinance is amended to 

read as follows: 
 

ARTICLE IX 
B-3 WATERFRONT BUSINESS DISTRICT 

 
SECTION  901.  USE REGULATIONS 
 
Land, buildings or structures in this zoning district may be used for the following purposes only, 
subject to the review and approval of a site plan by the Planning Commission:   
1. Automatic teller machines when inside a building and accessory to another use. 
 
2. Beaches and recreation areas, either municipal or private by special use permit. 
 
3. Boat launching ramp. 
 
4. Campgrounds, subject to compliance with the standards and procedures for establishing 

a Planned Unit Development as regulated in Article XIII. 
a. The minimum size of the campground shall be three (3) acres. 
b. Thirty (30%) percent of the campground shall be dedicated to open space for the 

common use of the residents.  For purposes of calculating the open space 
percentage, areas set aside for common recreational use may be included; 
driveways and parking areas shall be excluded. 

c. There shall be a traffic route which does not pass through a residential area, 
connecting the campground entrance with a public street with a minimum right of 
way of eighty (80') feet in width. 

d. The campsites shall be set back from the property line a minimum distance of 
thirty (30') feet. 

e. A recreational unit may be located at the campground for no more than twenty-
one (21) consecutive nights.  After five (5) nights out of the campground, the 
recreational unit may return again for no more than twenty-one (21) consecutive 
nights.  A recreational unit shall not be located on the premises of a campground 
for more than forty-two (42) nights in any calendar year.  Storage of recreational 
units for more than twenty-one (21) days is not permitted in a campground. 

f. The recreational units (excluding tents) located at the campground shall be 
validly licensed as vehicles or trailers, and shall at all times be legal for use on 
roads and highways without requiring any special permits.  The maximum 
allowable trailering width of a recreational unit is ninety six (96") inches.  The 

 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 10 of 57



 

Ordinance No. ____ 
-2- 

campground owner shall establish the maximum allowable length of a 
recreational unit based on the available turning radii in the campground. 

g. There shall be a security fence surrounding the campground, with a minimum 
height of six (6') feet.  There shall be security gates at the entrances. 

h. Accessory uses and structures are allowed as part of the campground under the 
following conditions: 
1) Allowed uses are convenience store, snack bar, laundromat, or similar 

uses. 
2) The accessory use is intended for use of occupants of campground only. 
3) The accessory use must be centrally located in the campground, it shall 

not abut or adjoin a public street. 
4)  No signs advertising the accessory use shall face public streets. 
5)  The accessory use shall cease business operation when the campground 

is closed for the season; the accessory use shall only be open for 
business when the campground is operating. 

6)  One structure is allowed to be used as an office. 
7)  One mobile home is allowed in a campground as a caretaker's residence. 

i. Home occupations are not permitted within the campground. 
j. Campgrounds shall be licensed by the State of Michigan, including as required in 

Act 368 of 1978, the Public Health Code.  The City may enforce the provisions of 
the Public Health Code. 

k. A Planned Unit Development shall not be licensed as both a campground and a 
seasonal mobile home campground. 

l. The maximum number of sites per acre of total campground area is 12 sites per 
acre. 

m. The minimum area of each site is one-thousand-three-hundred (1300) square 
feet. 

n. All driveways and parking areas shall be paved with bituminous or concrete 
paving.  Two paved parking spaces shall be provided for each campsite. 

o. Each entrance and exit to and from the campground shall be located at least 
twenty-five (25') feet distant from adjacent property located in any single-family 
residential district. 

p. There shall be no vehicle access to the campground except through designated 
common driveways, unless an access for use only by emergency vehicles is 
approved as a condition of development approval. 

q. Screening shall be provided along side yards, rear yards and any part of the 
parcel which abuts a public or private right of way.  Screening shall be 
maintained in a living condition and shall consist of 1) a compact hedge of 
deciduous or evergreen trees which reach a minimum of five (5) feet in height 
and five (5) feet in width after one growing season; or 2) a solid wall or tight 
board fence six (6) feet in height. 

r. The campground owner or applicant must research and show proof that the 
campground will not overload available roadways, utilities and drainage, 
including a study which estimates peak loads and shows that there is excess 
capacity in city utilities, streets and drainage to service the campground. 

s. The City Fire Marshal may prohibit campfires as part of site plan approval. 
 

5. Convenience store. 
 
6. Dwelling above permitted use according to the standards in Section 601.16. 
 

 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 11 of 57



 

Ordinance No. ____ 
-3- 

7. Marinas and marine services. 
 
8. Miniature or par 3 golf course. 
 
9. Motels, hotels or resort motels or hotels when authorized as a special land use (see 

Section 1510.22 and Section 1738).  (Amended 8/21/06, Ord. 946) 
 
10. Parking lots by special use permit. 
 
11. Planned Unit Development which contains a mix of land uses including any use 

permitted by right in this district and one or more of the following land uses according to 
the requirements of Article XVIII:  

 
a. Attached and semi-detached dwelling units including dwellings known as 

townhouses or condominiums, among other names, subject to conformance with the 
following standards: 

 1. Each dwelling unit shall have one (1) floor at ground level. 
2. No more than four (4) dwelling units shall be attached in any construction 

group, or contained in any single structure, except that where the roof 
ridge lines and building facades of any four (4) consecutive units are 
staggered or offset by at least ten (10) feet, then a maximum of eight (8) 
units may be permitted.   

3. The site plan shall be so planned as to provide ingress and egress 
directly onto a major or minor thoroughfare, except when the Planning 
Commission finds, upon review of the site plan, that ingress and egress 
directly onto an adjacent minor street will not be detrimental to the 
harmonious development of the adjacent properties. 
Where feasible, the Planning Commission may require that ingress-
egress to parking facilities be provided from adjacent alleys so as to 
minimize curb cuts directly onto the major or minor thoroughfares. 

4. The site plan shall be so planned as to recognize yard and general 
development relationships with adjacent land uses.  The Planning 
Commission may recommend physical features to be provided which will 
insure harmony in these relationships. 

 
b.  Multiple-family dwellings and apartments where not all the units are at ground level.  

(Amended 6/6/05, Ord. 933) 
 
12. Private clubs, fraternal organizations, lodge halls and convention halls. 
 
13. Recreation centers and facilities by special use permit. 
 
14. Restaurants, lounges or other places serving food or beverage, except those having the 

character of a drive-in. 
 
15. Retail uses. 
 
16. Accessory buildings and structures customarily incidental to the above uses. 
 
 
17. One family detached dwellings by special use permit, subject to the following conditions: 

 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 12 of 57



 

Ordinance No. ____ 
-4- 

 
a. The applicant must show that the proposed use will be of substantial benefit to the 

city of South Haven and the waterfront business community. 
b. The applicant must show that no other permitted use is possible on the lot due its 

size or configuration.   
c. The applicant’s inability to use the lot for another permitted use cannot be self-

created, for example, but not for limitation, created by the sale of a portion of the 
property or adjacent property.   

d. Special use permits shall not be granted under this subsection for any lot created by 
lot split after January 1, 2014. 

e. The site plan submitted with the application must satisfy all additional requirements 
for special use permits in Section 1502 of this ordinance. 

 
SECTION 2 
 
If any portion of this ordinance is for any reason held invalid, such decision shall not affect the 
validity of the remaining provisions of this ordinance. 

  
SECTION 3 
 
This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and publication as 
provided by law. 
 
SECTION 4 
 
This ordinance shall take effect ten (10) days after its adoption or upon its publication in the 
South Haven Tribune, whichever occurs later. 
 
INTRODUCED by the City Council of the CITY OF SOUTH HAVEN, MICHIGAN on this ---- day 
of -----, 2014. 
 
ADOPTED by the City Council of the CITY OF SOUTH HAVEN, MICHIGAN on this __day of 
________, 2014. 
 
 
 
             

Robert G. Burr, Mayor 
 

 
CERTIFICATION 

 
I, Amanda Morgan, Clerk of the City of South Haven, Van Buren County, Michigan do hereby 
certify that the above Ordinance was adopted by the South Haven City Council on the __ day of 
_____, 2014; and the same was published in a paper of general circulation in the City, being the 
South Haven Tribune, on the ___day of _________, 2014. 
 
 
 
 
             

 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 13 of 57



 

Ordinance No. ____ 
-5- 

       Amanda Morgan, City Clerk 
 
 

 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 14 of 57



PLANNING COMMISSION 
CITY OF SOUTH HAVEN 

Van Buren and Allegan Counties, Michigan 

Commissioner      , supported by Commissioner ___, moved the adoption of the following 
resolution: 

RESOLUTION 2014- 0009 

RESOLUTION APPROVING AND RECOMMENDING CITY COUNCIL        
APPROVAL OF A ZONING ORDINANCE TEXT AMENDMENT TO 
ORDINANCE SECTION 901-17 

 

Whereas, after providing notice in accordance with the Michigan Zoning Enabling Act, 2006 PA 
110, as amended, MCL 125.3101 et seq. (the “MZEA”), and the City of South Haven Zoning 
Ordinance, the Planning Commission held a public hearing on July 10, 2014, to receive and 
consider public comment on the zoning ordinance text amendment and to review the 
information and materials available relating to the rezoning request; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED AS FOLLOWS: 

1. After reviewing the information, materials and comments available in relation to the 
proposed text amendment, pursuant to and in accordance with the MZEA and the factors and 
criteria provided by Section 2501 of the South Haven Zoning Ordinance, the Planning 
Commission makes the following finding: 

Based upon the application and other submitted materials, the Planning Commission 
determines that the proposed amendment to zoning ordinance section 901-17 is appropriate 
with the intent of both the zoning ordinance and master plan for the City of South Haven. 

2. The Planning Commission approves the amendment as submitted, (Case No. 2014-0009) 
and recommends that the City Council adopt the amendment. 

3. All resolutions and parts of resolutions are, to the extent of any conflict with this resolution, 
rescinded. 

 

YEAS:  Commissioners:   ______________________________________________________ 

NAYS:  Commissioners:             

ABSTAIN:  Commissioners:            

ABSENT:  Commissioners:          

 

RESOLUTION DECLARED ADOPTED. 

 

CERTIFICATION 

As its Recording Secretary, I certify that this is a true and complete copy of a resolution adopted 
by the Planning Commission of the City of South Haven, Van Buren and Allegan Counties, 
Michigan, at a meeting held on July 10, 2014. 

 

 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 15 of 57



 

Date:   July 10, 2014           
       Marsha Ransom, Recording Secretary 
 
 

 

7223466.1 26369/143228 

 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 16 of 57



Planning Commission 
Staff Report 

June 6, 2013 

Planning Commission Staff Report 

 
Agenda Item #6b 

38 Northshore Drive Rezoning Request  
 

 
City of South Haven 

 

 
Background Information:  Tom Brussee, owner of 38 Northshore Drive, has submitted an 
application to rezone his parcel from the B-3 Waterfront Business Zone to the R1-A Single 
Family Residential Zone.  
 
Recommendation: Staff recommends that the planning commission review the application and 
narrative and carefully consider public comments before making any decision in this matter. The 
planning commission in this matter motion should be made in the format of a recommendation 
to city council. 
 
Support Material: 
 
Application 
Aerial scan 
Zoning Map indicating amendment area 
Resolution of recommendation/denial to the city council 
 
 
 
 
 
Respectfully submitted,  
Linda Anderson 
Zoning Administrator 

 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 17 of 57



 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 18 of 57



Exhibit “A”

A Parcel of land being part of block 20, 21, 23, Monroe Park Subdivision and part of
block 15 of Dyckman and Woodman’s addition to the village (now city) of South
Haven, sections 3 and 10, Town 1 South, Range 17 West, more particularly
described as: commencing at the Northwest corner of lot 1 in block 20 of Monroe
Park Subdivision; Thence South 21’36’55’’ West along the West line of Block 20, a
distance of 210.24 feet to the true place beginning; Thence continuing South along
21’36’55’’ West along said West line of Block 20, a distance of 161.26 feet; Thence
North 74’09’28’’ East, 182.75 feet; Thence North 21’38’55’’ East, 50.03 feet, Thence
North 68’21’05’’ West, 145.00 feet to the place of beginning.

22408664.1\153234-00001

 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 19 of 57



Exhibit “B”

a. What, if any, identifiable conditions related to the application have changed which justify the
proposed amendment?

 The City’s primary business district has become fairly clearly defined in a different location in the
City as intended under the City’s Master Plan. The area surrounding the Property is zoned almost
exclusively residential and/or used exclusively for residential purposes.1

 The size and configuration of the Property is simply unable to facilitate the uses permitted as of right
in the B-3 zoning district in compliance with the Zoning Ordinance, and particularly the parking
requirements imposed thereby. Notably, this was true even prior to the the sale of the affiliated
property across North Shore Drive and development thereof as residential property.

b. What are the precedents and the possible effects of such precedent which might result from the
approval or denial of the application?

 None. The Property is seemingly unique in the City in that it is zoned for business uses in a part of
the community which is, in fact, exclusively residential. It is unlikely that this situation exists, at
least to this degree, in other portions of the City. As such, concerns about setting precedent should
be minimal.

c. What is the impact of the amendment on the ability of the City and other governmental agencies to
provide adequate public services and facilities, and/or programs that might reasonably be required in
the future if the proposed amendment is adopted?

 None. The requested rezoning would have the result of actually decreasing the demand on these
services inasmuch as the permitted uses would be restricted to less intensive uses than are permitted
under B-3.

d. Does the proposed district change adversely affect environmental conditions, the character or the
likely value of the surrounding property?

 No. With respect to environmental conditions, the residential uses permitted under R-1A are less
likely to result in adverse environmental conditions than the uses permitted under B-3. With respect
to the character or likely value of the surrounding property, the requested rezoning would be
significantly more harmonious with the surrounding property than the uses permitted under B-3.
Moreover, any B-3 use will necessarily increase the parking burden on an already congested part of
the community; an R-1A use, on the other hand, would have minimal off-site parking impact.

e. Does the proposed district change comply with the adopted City Comprehensive Plan? If not, and if
the proposed zoning change is reasonable, in light of all other relevant factors, then the Plan should be
amended before the requested zoning amendment is approved.

 Yes. The Master Plan designates this property as “Resort” (see the 2011 Future Land Use map on
page 162 of the November 7, 2011, City of South Haven Municipal Master Plan).

1 Note that the majority of the surrounding area is zoned R-1C. Inasmuch as R-1A is sufficient from the Applicant’s
perspective, the Applicant is not requesting a rezoning to R-1C. If, however, the Planning Commission is inclined to
grant the rezoning to an R-1 district and would prefer to rezone to R-1C for consistency purposes, that would be
acceptable to the Applicant.

 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 20 of 57



 The Master Plan does not go into great detail on what it intends by the use of the term “Resort” other
than to indicate that it anticipates a mix of residential uses to maintain “a residential or ‘waterfront
inn’ character.…” The current B-3 zoning of the Property would permit a number of uses, as of
right, which are incompatible with this objective (e.g. convenience stores, restaurants/lounges, retail
uses, etc.). Rezoning the Property from B-3 to R-1A would further the Master Plan’s objective by
eliminating the incompatible business uses which are permitted under the current B-3 zoning of the
Property.

 This area is also situated in “Planning Area 2” as indicated on the Master Plan. Planning Area 2
indicates that the City should maintain the historic mix of seasonal rental, bed & breakfast, multi-
family, and single-family detached uses in the area. Again, rezoning the Property from B-3 to R-1A
would further this objective by eliminating the incompatible B-3 business uses (e.g. convenience
stores, restaurants/lounges, retail uses, etc.).

 Although the “Resort” designation contained in the Master Plan does not have a direct Zoning
Ordinance district analogue, the Zoning Ordinance itself does define the term “Resort” as follows:
“A place of typically seasonal entertainment, recreation, and/or lodging. Resort lodging, if provided,
may include hotels, motels, single or multiple-family residential dwelling units, cottages,
campgrounds, bed and breakfasts, or some combination, as regulated by appropriate sections of this
Ordinance.” In this way, the Zoning Ordinance carries forward the residential character of the
“Resort” designation in the Master Plan by specifically including residential and residentially-
compatible uses.

f. If a specific property is involved, can the property in question be put to a reasonable economic use in
the zoning district in which it is presently located.

 No. As indicated above, the size and configuration of the Property is such that it is not economically
viable under current zoning. For instance, the parking requirements of the zoning ordinance and the
parking demands presented by the B-3 uses simply cannot be accommodated on this Property
without significantly increasing the parking burden on the area; conversely, the parking requirements
of R-1A could be accommodated on-site with no impact on the parking capacity of the area
community.

g. Is another procedure, such as a variance, special land use or planned unit development procedure a
more appropriate alternative than a rezoning?

 No. While the B-3 zoning district has been amended in recent years to permit residential use of B-3
property pursuant to special use permit upon a showing of, essentially, hardship, use of that
procedure would keep the Property in the B-3 district with all of the dilatory aspects thereof (i.e.
incompatible uses, significant parking demands, etc.). As discussed above, the only practical and
rational use for this Property is residential. As such, keeping the Property in the B-3 district
essentially requires the owner to make the required showings and submit to the conditions of a
special use permit in order to put the Property to the only use to which it is reasonably suited. This
is an unfair burden on the Property owner.

 Additionally, as demonstrated above, the residential uses permitted under R-1A are not only
significantly more compatible and consistent with the surrounding properties, but also significantly
more compatible with the City’s intended plan for this Property. By rezoning the Property from B-3
to R-1A, the City would be not only facilitating the owner’s desire to use the Property for the only
use to which it is reasonably suited, but also furthering the objectives of the City’s Master Plan by
eliminating the various B-3 uses which are wholly incompatible with the Master Plan’s “Resort” and
“Planning Area 2” designations.

 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 21 of 57



 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 22 of 57



R-1A
River Front Park

South Side Marina

North Side Marina

Proposed for 
R-1A Zoning

R-1C

B-3

CBD

RM-1

North
Beach

Water St

No
rth

 Sh
ore

 Dr

Pro
me

na
de

Grand Blvd Bla
ck 

Rive
r S

t

Eagle St

La
ke 

Sh
ore

 Dr
South St

Avery St

Walk D

Walk F

Wa
lk B

Walk A

Chicago Ave

Kalamazoo Ave
Ind

ian
a A

ve

Esplanade Plz

Walk E

Zoning
Subject Property
R-1A
R-1C
RM-1
B-3

38 North Shore Dr Proposed Rezoning to R-1A µ

6/25/2014

 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 23 of 57



PLANNING COMMISSION 
CITY OF SOUTH HAVEN 

Van Buren and Allegan Counties, Michigan 

Commissioner   ________   , supported by Commissioner  _______  , moved the adoption of 
the following resolution: 

RESOLUTION 2014- 0001 

RESOLUTION APPROVING AND RECOMMENDING CITY COUNCIL 
(APPROVAL/DENIAL) OF A REZONING REQUEST SUBMITTED BY TOM 
BRUSSEE FOR PROPERTY LOCATED AT 38 NORTHSHORE DRIVE 

Whereas, on June 13, 2014, the Applicant submitted an application to rezone .35 acres (15,319 
square feet) at 38 Northshore Drive from the B-3, Waterfront Business Zone to the R1-A Single 
Family Residential zone. The parcel number for the subject property is 80-53-823-002-10 and, 
 
Whereas, after providing notice in accordance with the Michigan Zoning Enabling Act, 2006 PA 
110, as amended, MCL 125.3101 et seq. (the “MZEA”), and the City of South Haven Zoning 
Ordinance, the Planning Commission held a public hearing on July 10, 2014, to receive and 
consider public comment on the rezoning application and to review the information and 
materials submitted by the applicant and others relating to the rezoning request; and 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED AS FOLLOWS: 

1. After reviewing the information, materials and comments submitted in relation to the 
rezoning application, pursuant to and in accordance with the MZEA and the factors and criteria 
provided by Section 2501 of the South Haven Zoning Ordinance, the Planning Commission 
makes the following finding: 

Based upon the application and other submitted materials, the Planning Commission 
determines that the rezoning of the Property to I-1 is (consistent/inconsistent) with the 
existing Master Plan and that the uses permitted by right and special use within the I-1 
zoning district are (consistent/inconsistent) with existing uses and the general character of 
the area surrounding the Property. 

2. The Planning Commission (approves/denies) the rezoning application as submitted, (Case 
No. 2014-0008-REZ) and recommends that the City Council (adopt/not adopt) the amendment. 

3. All resolutions and parts of resolutions are, to the extent of any conflict with this resolution, 
rescinded. 

 

YEAS:  Commissioners:   __________________________________________________ ____ 

NAYS:  Commissioners:             

ABSTAIN:  Commissioners:            

ABSENT:  Commissioners:          

 

RESOLUTION DECLARED ADOPTED. 

 

 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 24 of 57



 

CERTIFICATION 

As its Recording Secretary, I certify that this is a true and complete copy of a resolution adopted 
by the Planning Commission of the City of South Haven, Van Buren and Allegan Counties, 
Michigan, at a meeting held on July 10, 2014. 

 

Date:   July 11, 2014           
       Marsha Ransom, Recording Secretary 
 
 

 

7223466.1 26369/143228 

 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 25 of 57



 
Planning Commission 

Staff Report 
June 5, 2014 

 
 

Planning Commission Staff Report 

 
Agenda Item #7a 

Goodwill Site Plan Review 
 

City of South Haven 

 
 

 
Background Information: Goodwill Industries of Southwestern Michigan has made application 
to build a new facility at 340 73 ½ Street. The proposed facility is 7,005 square feet in size and 
the use is permitted in the B-4 zoning district. This application requires site plan review by the 
planning commission as well as review by appropriate city departments. Those reviews, along 
with the zoning administrator review, are included in this agenda packet. 
 
Recommendation: Given the extensive list of concerns from city departments, it is 
recommended that the planning commission delay final action on this site plan. The applicant 
should work with the city departments to correct any concerns and return to the planning 
commission for final approval when all concerns have been adequately addressed and city staff 
is satisfied with the site plan. 
 
Support Material:  
 
Application 
Site Plan  
Department reviews 

 Zoning 
 Electric 
 SHAES 
 Building 

 
The city engineer has stated that there are a number of items he needs to see corrected or 
added to the site plan. Staff had not received his comments at the time this packet was 
compiled but will forward the information to the planning commissioners when it is received. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
Linda Anderson 
Zoning Administrator 

 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 26 of 57



 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 27 of 57



 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 28 of 57



 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 29 of 57



 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 30 of 57



 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 31 of 57



 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 32 of 57



 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 33 of 57



 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 34 of 57



 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 35 of 57



 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 36 of 57



 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 37 of 57



 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 38 of 57



 
 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 
To:   Linda Anderson, Building & Zoning Administrator 
 
Cc: Roger Huff, DPW Director 
 Ron Dotson, Operations Manager 

Peter Van Dop, Chief Deputy Drain Commissioner 
  
From:  Larry Halberstadt, PE, City Engineer 
 
Date: June 27, 2014 
 
RE: Preliminary Site Plan Review 

Goodwill Industries 
 340 73 ½ Street 
 
Engineering Department Review: NOT APPROVED 
 
Storm Water Management 
 
This site is located within the drainage district of and discharges to the North Phoenix Drain.  
The applicant has obtained a separate review and approval letter from the Van Buren County 
Drain Commissioner.  Calculations should be submitted to the City for separate review. 
 
The on-site storm sewers shall be designed to convey the runoff from the 10 year frequency 
storm.  The on-site storm sewers discharge to a detention basin located on the east side of 73 
½ Street.  The flood elevations within this detention basin should be considered when designing 
the on-site storm sewers to ensure that the hydraulic grade line of the detention basin does not 
lead to on site flooding of the Goodwill site or neighboring sites.  Storm sewer calculations 
should be submitted for review and approval. 
 
A portion of the Arby’s site at 1250 Phoenix Street drains onto the Goodwill parcel.  The 
Goodwill plan illustrates this surface water being intercepted by a new 8-inch diameter 
underdrain pipe and being routed to an existing 12-inch diameter storm sewer pipe.  The use of 
an underdrain to intercept surface water is not an appropriate treatment.  Underdrains are prone 
to long term failure when utilized to intercept surface water.  Surface water runoff must be 
routed into a surface drainage system.  The outlet of the existing 12-inch diameter storm sewer 
pipe crossing the Arby’s parcel is not shown on the drawings.  The location of this outlet pipe 
must be identified.  If this pipe connects to MDOT storm sewer lines in Phoenix Street (BR-196), 
then a permit from MDOT may need to be obtained, prior to modifying the existing drainage 
system. 
 
 
 

   Dept. of Public Works

City of South Haven

DPW Building  1199 8th Ave.  South Haven, Michigan  49090 
Telephone (269) 637-0737  Fax (269) 637-4778 

 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 39 of 57



June 27, 2014 
Preliminary Site Plan Review 
Goodwill Industries 
340 73 ½ Street 
Page 2 of 4 

Off-Street Parking Space Layout, Standards, Construction and Maintenance 
 
The width, length, and aisle widths as shown all meet the requirements of Section 1801.2.   
 
All site paving is shown as Portland cement concrete or asphaltic concrete and meets the 
requirements of Section 1801.8.  It is recommended that the asphalt leveling course be changed 
to MDOT 13A mixture, that the thickness of the aggregate base be increased to 8-inches, and 
that a sand subbase be provided beneath the aggregate base.  These measures will increase 
the life span of the pavement structure and prevent premature pavement failure. 
 
Off-Street Loading and Unloading 
 
The site plan illustrates two off-street loading and unloading spaces located in a dedicated truck 
dock area.  The truck dock is located on the west side of the building.  In order for trucks to back 
into the truck dock, they will need to utilize the driveway easement and paved area located west 
of the Goodwill Industries site.  The paved parking area serves the Phoenix Square shopping 
center at 1220 Phoenix St.  Parking spaces are striped across a portion of the 40 foot wide 
driveway easement area.  The site plan should be revised to show the existing parking spaces 
that encroach onto the easement area and evidence must be submitted that trucks will not 
collide with cars parked in the spaces at 1220 Phoenix St. 
 
Internal Traffic Requirements 
 
MCL §257.942b requires that signs and traffic control devices within a parking area of a 
shopping center meet the requirements of the Michigan Manual of Uniform Traffic Control 
Devices (MMUTCD).  Stop signs at the site access points and barrier free parking signs should 
be provided at this development. 
 
Pedestrian Access 
 
The site is not adjacent to any public streets that have public sidewalks.  As a result, no 
pedestrian access facilities are being provided. 
 
Sanitary Sewer Department Review: NOT APPROVED 
 
The site will be served by an 8-inch diameter sanitary sewer main located within an easement 
crossing 1220 Phoenix St.  A new 6-inch diameter sanitary sewer service line must be extended 
from the main to the building.  The length of the service and number of bends required in the 
service line will require at least one cleanout between the main and building. 
 
Portions of the proposed sanitary sewer service are located outside of the developer’s parcel 
and outside of public road right-of-way.  The applicant must submit adequate documentation 
that they have permission to construct and maintain their private sewer service on the 1220 
Phoenix St parcel. 
 
The developer must make application for sewer service at South Haven City Hall and pay all 
fees required.  Once fees are paid, the City will tap the sewer main and construct the service 

 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 40 of 57



June 27, 2014 
Preliminary Site Plan Review 
Goodwill Industries 
340 73 ½ Street 
Page 3 of 4 

line to the edge of the sewer easement.  The developer’s contractor is responsible for 
completing the service line construction the remaining distance to the building. 
 
Water Department Review: NOT APPROVED 
 
The Water Department has previously reviewed the water service connection requirements with 
the applicant.  Although there is a 6-inch water main crossing the 1220 Phoenix St parcel, this is 
not considered to be a public main and the City will not permit any new service taps off this 
main.  The nearest main available to provide service is located on the north side of Phoenix St 
(BR-196). 
 
Portions of the proposed water service are located outside of the developer’s parcel and outside 
of public road right-of-way.  The applicant must submit adequate documentation that they have 
permission to construct and maintain their private water service on the 1220 Phoenix St parcel. 
 
The Water Department is willing to provide service off the 12-inch main in Phoenix St.  The 
developer must make application for water service at South Haven City Hall and pay all fees 
required.  Upon making application for service, the City will determine the cost of providing 
service and bill the connection fee based on the time and materials required to complete the 
work.  Once fees are paid, the City will tap the water main and construct the service line to the 
south parkway of Phoenix St.  The developer’s contractor is responsible for completing the 
service line construction the remaining distance to the building. 
 
The developer is responsible to determine the necessary size required for the water service line.  
The City only provides services in the following sizes:  1”, 2”, 4”, 6”, or 8” diameter. 
 
Street Department Review: NOT APPROVED 
 
The proposed development will be served by two access points.  The rear entrance is 
connected to a 40 foot wide driveway easement located across the Phoenix Square 
development (1220 Phoenix St).  The driveway easement provides access to Phoenix Street 
(BR-196) between 1200 Phoenix Street (Pri-Mar Petroleum) and 1250 Phoenix Street (Arby’s).  
This driveway is immediately south of the main entrance to the Meijer store at 1223 Phoenix St.  
The Michigan Department of Transportation is currently performing a traffic study in this area.  It 
is anticipated that a traffic signal will be erected at this location prior to the end of 2014. 
 
The Goodwill development also proposes a front entrance driveway onto 73 ½ Street.  This road 
is under the jurisdiction of the Van Buren County Road Commission.  The applicant must obtain 
a permit from the VBCRC for construction of this driveway and for the proposed storm sewer 
crossing under 73 ½ Street.  The Road Commission may require road widening, turning tapers, 
or other improvements to 73 ½ Street or may deny the applicant access at this location. 
 
The site plan notes that the driveway onto 73 ½ Street will tie into an existing asphalt paved 
drive.  The paved drive that is referenced appears to be a paved shoulder.  The paved shoulder 
ends approximately 40 feet north of the southeast property corner.  However, the proposed 
driveway extends approximately 65 feet north of the southeast property corner.  Thus, a portion 

 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 41 of 57



June 27, 2014 
Preliminary Site Plan Review 
Goodwill Industries 
340 73 ½ Street 
Page 4 of 4 

of the proposed driveway is shown connecting to an unpaved shoulder area.  This is not an 
acceptable driveway configuration. 

 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 42 of 57



 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 43 of 57



 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 44 of 57



 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 45 of 57



 
Planning Commission 

Staff Report 
June 5, 2014 

 
 

Planning Commission Staff Report 

 
Agenda Item #7b 

Draft Noise Ordinance 
 

City of South Haven 

 
 

 
Background Information:  
 
Since March 26, 2013, a subcommittee of the planning commission has been working on 
amendments to the city noise ordinance. This is a project requested of the planning commission  
by the city council to complete one of their 2014-2015 adopted goals. As part of this process, 
the subcommittee met with the city mayor, police chief and the directors/managers of the City 
Housing Commission and Old Harbor Village.  In May or this year, the subcommittee, with the 
help of the police chief, heard a demonstration of decibel levels to aid in establishing maximum 
noise levels.  
 
The subcommittee has now completed work on a draft ordinance amendment and is ready for 
planning commission review and comment.  
 
Recommendation:  
 
No action is required at this time but staff asks that the members take some time to review the 
draft and be prepared to discuss any changes. A public hearing may be scheduled for the 
August meeting.  
 
Support Material:  
 
Draft Noise Ordinance 
City Comparisons 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
Linda Anderson 
Zoning Administrator 

 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 46 of 57



ENVIRONMENT 

ARTICLE I. IN GENERAL 

Secs. 30-1—30-26. Reserved. 

ARTICLE ll. NOISE 

Sec. 30-27. Definitions. 

 The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this division, shall have the 
meanings ascribed to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different 
meaning: 

Ambient Noise Level (or Continuous Background Sound Level) means the amount of inherent 
background noise at a given location. This includes, but is not limited to, traffic, essential 
machinery, normal speaking voices and interaction of the wind with the landscape as measured 
on the dB(A) weight scale defined by the American National Standards Institute. 
 
Commercial means property located within the following Zoning District Designations: CBD 
Central Business District; B-1 Neighborhood Business District; B-2 General Business District; B-
3 Waterfront Business District; and PUD Planned Unit Development – Residential or PUD 
Planned Unit Development – Commercial. 

Decibel means a unit of sound level on a logarithmic scale measured relative to the threshold of 
audible sound to the human ear, in compliance with American National Standards Institute 
Standard S 1.1-1960. 

Decibel on the A-weighted network or dB(A), means decibels measured on the A-weighted 
network of a calibrated sound level meter utilizing the A-Level weight scale and the fast meter 
response, as specified in American National Standards Institute standards S1.4-1971. 

Fast Meter response means the meter ballistics of meter dynamic characteristics as specified by 
American national Standards Institute Standard S 1.4-1971 

Industrial means property located within the following Zoning District Designations: I-1 Light 
Industrial Districts; and I-2 General Industrial District. 

Property line means the imaginary line which represents the legal limits of property; including an 
apartment, condominium, room or other dwelling unit, owned, leased or otherwise occupied by a 
person, business, corporation or institution. In cases involving sound from an activity on a public 
street or other public right-of-way, the property line shall be the nearest boundary of the public 
right-of-way. 

Residential means property located within the following Zoning District Designations: R-1 and R-
2 One Family Residential Districts and RM-1 Multiple Family Residential District. 

 

 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 47 of 57



 

 

Sec. 30-28 General Prohibitions. 

 No person shall create, assist in creating, permit, continue or permit the continuance of 
any noise that exceeds the limitations set forth in this article within the city. All noises that 
violate the restrictions of this division are hereby declared to be public nuisances. 

Sec. 30-29. Specific Prohibitions. 

 No person shall conduct or permit any of the following activities if such activity produces 
frequent or long-continued noise that is clearly audible at or beyond the property line of the 
property on which they are conducted. The prohibitions of this section apply even if the sound 
level produced by a prohibited activity does not exceed the applicable level specified in Section 
30-30. 

(1) Insect or animal control devices. The operation, between 10:00 p. m. and 7:00   
a.m. of any device which produces an audible sound for the purpose of killing, 
trapping, attracting, or repelling insects or animals. 
 

(2) Animal or bird sounds. The keeping of any animal or bird which creates frequent 
or long-continued noise. 

 
(3) Attention arresters. The sounding, between 10:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m. of bells, 

chimes, sirens, whistles or similar devices. 
 
(4) Shouting and whistling. Yelling, shouting, shooting, whistling or singing on the 

public street between the hours of 10:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m. 
 
(5) Machines or devices for producing or reproducing sound. Use, operate or permit 

to be operated, any radio receiving set, musical instrument, phonograph, 
magnetic tape player, compact disk player, or other machine or device for 
producing or reproducing of sound, from a moving or stationary vehicle in such 
manner as to disturb the peace, quiet and comfort of the neighboring inhabitants 
or at any time with louder volume than is necessary for convenient hearing for 
the person or persons who are in the vehicle in which such machine or device is 
operated and who are voluntarily listeners thereto. The operation of any such set, 
instrument, photograph, machine or device in such a manner as to be plainly 
audible at a distance of 25 feet from the property line during the hours of 11:00 
p.m. to 7:00 a.m. or 50 feet from the hours of 7:00 a.m. to 11:00 p.m. in any area 
whether inside or outside of the vehicle in which it is located. 

 
 
 

 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 48 of 57



 
Sec. 30-30. Decibel Level Limitations. 

 

(a) No person shall conduct or permit any activity, including those specific 
prohibitions listed in Section 30-29 that produces a dB(A) at or beyond the 
property line of the property on which it is conducted which exceeds the levels 
specified in Table I. Such noise levels shall be measured on the property line or 
on the adjacent property which is receiving the noise.  

 
Table I 

Land Use 
producing the 

sound 

7:00 a.m.  
to 11:00 p.m. 

dB(A)   

11 p.m. to 
1:30 a.m. 

dB(A)   

1:30 a.m. to 
7:00 a.m. 

 
Residential/ 
Commercial 

70 60 Ambient Noise 
Level Only 

 
Industrial 75 75 75 dB(A)   

 

Sec. 30-31 General Exemptions. 

 

 The following activities are exempted from the sound level limitations of this division: 
 

(1) Emergency work necessary to restore property to a safe condition following a 
fire, accident or natural disaster, to restore public utilities or to protect persons or 
property from imminent danger. 

 
(2) Sound made to alert persons to the existence of an emergency, danger or 

attempted crime. 
 
(3) Activities or operations of governmental units or agencies. 
 
(4) Parades, concerts, festivals, fairs or similar activities subject to any sound 

limitations included in the approval by the city. 
 
(5) Lawn maintenance and snow removal on individual lots between 7:00 a.m. and 

8:00 p.m. for periods not to exceed two (2) hours.  
 
(6) Construction sounds. Construction, repair, remodeling, demolition, drilling, wood 

cutting or excavating work conducted between 7:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m. Mondays 
through Saturdays, except legal holidays, which does not produce a sound level 
exceeding 100 dB(A)  at or beyond the property line of the property on which the 
work is being conducted. 

 
 

 

 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 49 of 57



Sec. 30-32. Test Procedures. 

 

(a) Generally. Test instruments and procedures used for implementation and enforcement 
of this section shall substantially conform with applicable standards and recommended practices 
established by the Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc. and the American National Standards 
Institute, Inc. for the measurement of motor vehicle sound levels. The department of state 
transportation (MDOT) has promulgated rules establishing these test procedures. 
 
(b) Exemptions for time to comply. Upon good cause shown by the owner or responsible 
party for any noise source, the City Manager shall have the power to grant an exemption from 
the requirement of this ordinance in order to allow sufficient time for an installation of needed 
control equipment, facilities, or modifications to achieve compliance, not to exceed ten (10) 
days, provided that such exemption may be renewed as necessary, but only if satisfactory 
progress toward compliance is shown. A request for exemption shall be filed in writing with the 
City Manager. 
 
Sec. 30-33. Special Waivers. 

 

(a) The City Manager shall have the authority, consistent with this ordinance, to grant 
special waivers. 
 
(b) Any person seeking a special waiver pursuant to this ordinance shall file a written 
application with the City Manager. The written application shall contain information which 
demonstrates that bringing the source of sound or activity for which the special waiver is sought 
into compliance with the ordinance would constitute an unreasonable hardship on the applicant, 
on the community, or for another purpose. 
 
(c) In determining whether to grant or deny the application, the City Manager shall balance 
the hardship to the applicant, the community, and other persons of not granting the special 
waiver against the adverse impact on the health, safety and welfare of persons affected, the 
adverse impact of granting a special waiver. 
 
(d) Special waivers shall be granted by notice to the applicant and may include all 
necessary conditions, including time limits on the permitted activity. The special waiver shall not 
become effective until all conditions are agreed to by the applicant. Noncompliance with any 
condition of the special waiver shall terminate it and subject the person to holding it to those 
provisions of this ordinance regulating the source of sounds or activity for which the special 
waiver was granted. 
 
Sec. 30-34. Social Gatherings and Parties. 

 

(a) Any person who is planning a social gathering or party at which it is anticipated that the 
noise levels will exceed those set forth in Section 30-30 herein may file a written application with 
the City Manager for a special waiver from said noise levels. 

 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 50 of 57



 
(b) Any persons seeking such a special waiver shall indicate in his or her application to the 
City Manager the specific reason why he or she will not be able to meet the established noise 
levels. The applicant shall also include a written statement that he or she has personally 
contacted all residents of properties abutting the property in question and none oppose the 
special waiver being requested. For purposes of the preceding sentence, when an applicant’s 

property abuts on a street the applicant will also be required to notify and receive permission 
from residents directly across said street. 
 
(c) Should the applicant be granted a special waiver pursuant to this subsection, it will be 
subject to the condition that any such special waiver will expire at 10:00 p.m. on Sunday through 
Thursday evenings and midnight on Friday and Saturday evenings. 
 
Sec. 30-35. Enforcement and Penalties. 

 

(a) Generally. 

 

(1)  Any person who violates any portion of this ordinance, first offense, shall receive 
a civil infraction citation. 

 
(2) If the order to cease or abate the noise is not complied with, or is complied with 

and then violated again within sixty (60) days, the person or persons responsible 
for the noise under Section 30-28 shall be charged with a misdemeanor offense 
subject to imprisonment for up to ninety (90) days  and/or up to $500 fine or both. 

 
Should any of the article, section, paragraphs, sentences, clauses or phrases of this chapter be 
declared unconstitutional or invalid, at the valid judgment or decision of a court of competent 
jurisdiction, such unconstitutionality or invalidity shall not affect the validity of the chapter in its 
entirety or any of the remaining articles, sections, paragraphs, sentences, clauses and phrases.  
 
 
 
 
Drafted June 5, 2014, 2014 

 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 51 of 57



Noise Ordinance Comparisons 
Selected Michigan Communities 
 

MUNICIPALITY DAYTIME LIMITS NIGHT LIMITS 
South Haven 

 Residential 
 Commercial 
 Industrial 

 
80 
90 
801 

 
60 
75 
60 

Douglas 

 Residential 
 Commercial 
 Industrial 

 
70 
70 
NA 

 
65 
65 
NA 

Kalamazoo 

 Residential 
 Commercial  
 Industrial 

 
50 
55 
75 

 
45 
50 
70 

Traverse City
2
 

 Residential 
 Commercial 
 Industrial 

 
65 
70 
75 

 
60 
70 
70 

Ludington 

 Residential 
 Commercial 
 Industrial 

 
65 
75 
85 

 
55 
65 
70 

Grand Haven Township 

 Residential 
 Commercial 
 Industrial 

 
65 
60 
70 

 
55 
60 
70 

 

The cities of Muskegon and Grand Haven do not have decibel limits in their noise ordinances 
but both regulate noise in the overnight hours by stating that no noise shall be audible 50 or 100 
feet (respectively) from the noise source.  Daytime limits are additionally vague and subjective. 

The City of Manistee has a decibel limit of 60 at any time in the city. 

Waterfront cities without specific decibel or distance limits in their ordinance: 

Bridgman   
Charlevoix 
Petoskey 
Grand Haven (City) 
St. Joseph   
Saugatuck 
New Buffalo 
Holland  

                                                           
1
 When abutting residential properties 

2
 Traverse City also has designated noise sensitive areas such as churches and libraries where the decibel limits are 

set by city council resolution on a case by case basis. 

 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 52 of 57



 
Planning Commission 

Staff Report 
July 10, 2014 

 
 

Planning Commission Staff Report 

 
Agenda Item #7c 

Nonconforming Mini Storage Expansion 
 

City of South Haven 

 
 

 
Background Information: The owner of JA Mini Storage, Jeff Aldous, is requesting a permit to 
add two (2) additional storage buildings to his business at 1505 2nd Avenue. This property is 
zoned B-2 General Business which does not include mini storage facilities as a permitted or 
special use. This facility has been in existence since 1999 and it appears it was originally 
allowed through the use variance process. A use variance allows the development of a use that 
is not otherwise permitted in the zoning district provided the applicant is able to demonstrate 
that the property cannot reasonably be used for another permitted use. Use variances are 
considered by the zoning board of appeals after a review by the planning commission. 
 
The last expansion of this facility was in 2005 (minutes included in this packet). At that time, the 
planning commission approved the expansion as a special use under zoning ordinance section 
801-59 which allows the planning commission to permit similar uses through the special use 
process. Both the zoning administrator at that time and the planning commission decided for 
that option over another use variance. 
 
In order to move forward on this request, staff is asking the planning commission to determine 
whether to process this as a special use request or send it to the zoning board of appeals as a 
use variance.  
 
Recommendation: Staff recommends that, once a formal request is received, the planning 
commission hold a special use public hearing regarding the expansion. Since this is the most 
recent method of expansion approval, it is reasonable to continue that practice.   
 
Support Material:  
 
Planning Commission minutes of January 6, 2005  
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
Linda Anderson 
Zoning Administrator 

 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 53 of 57



 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 54 of 57



 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 55 of 57



 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 56 of 57



 
July 10, 2014 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 57 of 57


	07-10-2014 PC Agenda pg
	06-05-2014 PC Minutes draft
	#6a. Zoning Text Amendment B-3 packet
	Staff Report
	B-3 July amendments
	#6a rezoning resolution

	#6b. Zoning Map Amendment packet
	Staff Report
	Rezoning App(22408520_2) (2)
	aerial scan
	Zoning map of area
	rezoning resolution

	#7a. Goodwill Site Plan Review
	Application
	Goodwill site plan
	Zoning Review
	Engineering Review
	Electric Dept. Review
	Public Safety Review
	Building Official Review

	#7b. Noice Ordinance packet
	#7b Noise Ord Staff Report
	Noise Ordinance - 1st draft revisions
	city comparisons

	#7c. Mini-Storiage Expansion packet
	#7c Staff Report
	Jan 6 2005 minutes




